JOEL H. HOLT, ESQ. P.C.

2132 Company Street, Suite 2 Tele.  (340) 773-8709
Christiansted, St. Croix Fax (340) 773-8677
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820 E-mail:  holtvitdlaol.com

June 27, 2017

James L. Hymes, lll, Esquire

Law Offices of James L. Hymes, lll, P.C.
P.O. Box 990

St. Thomas, VI 00804-0990

Sent by mail and email: jim@hymeslawvi.com
Re: Sixteen Plus v Manal
Dear Jim:

In response to your letter dated June 26", the two corporate-party cases you cite are
easily distinguishable. In this case, your client is also a Plaintiff, attempting to foreclose
a mortgage on USVI land, recorded in the Virgin Islands, secured by a Note, which her
last lawyer who wrote me claimed was now due in excess of $15,000,000. See Exhibit
1. No court would allow any off-island lender to avoid being deposed here where the
land securing the debt is located and the foreclosure action is taking place.

Moreover, your client is either attempting to defraud a Virgin Islands corporation (based
on the same facts that indicted her brother and uncle in 2004, (see Exhibit 2) or she is
trying to liquidate a very substantial investment on St. Croix, all of which requires her to
come here to explain which facts are true.

Indeed, your client had no trouble securing counsel in St. Martin as well as here when
she wanted to initiate collection efforts on the debt. Her feigned excuse of it being a
hardship on her simply confirms this is a bogus claim.

Finally, Palestine is not one the countries affected by the travel ban you referenced.

As for the discovery requests, they are proper and will not be withdrawn. An assertion of
potential privilege does not, as you seem to imply, obviate a request in any way.
Moreover, and this is quite important, if a requested item is deemed to be privileged,
you must list it on a privilege log pursuant to Rule 26(b)(5) which requires not only the
list, but also that you:

(i) expressly make the claim; and
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(ii) describe the nature of the documents, communications, or tangible things not
produced or disclosed — and do so in a manner that, without revealing
information itself privileged or protected, will enable other parties to assess the

claim.

Please call if you want to discuss this any further.

Jogl H. Holt
JHH/jf
Enclosures
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Attorneys at Law | Tax Lawyers

Sixteen Plus Corporation
4 C & D Sion Farm .
Christiansted

St. Croix 00820, U.S.V.L

Par Courier
St. Maarten, December 12, 2012

Ref.: Manal Mohamad Yousef / Collection loan

Dear Sir, Madame,
My client Manal Mohamad Yousef requested me to inform you of the following.

As it appears from documents in my possession your company owes client an amount of no less
than US$ 14,612,662.23 (Fourteen Million Six Hundred Twelve Thousand Six Hundred Sixty.
Two United States Dollars and Twenty Three Dollar Cent), for both principle and interest, based
on a promissory note between client and your company dated September 15, 1007 and a First
Priority Mortgage dated February 22, 1999. Apart from this your company owes clicnt at least an

amount of US$ 3,000,000.00 for late penalties.

Client is no longer willing to accept your negligent payment behavior and hgmby summons you
to pay off the entire debt mentioned, to the total of USS$ 17,612,662.23, to client :w,xthm two (2)

G. K

Jelme
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== IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS 96‘}’
DIVISION OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOBN i &’(( i
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, and - | THIRD SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT ° |
'GOVERNMENT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS, s ' '
i Plaintiffs, CRIMINAL NO. 2003-147 -
v( :
18US.C.§371 .
FA'I'HI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MAIL FRAUD .
STRUCTURE FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS
aka Pathi Yusuf, : .
_Wmfgl‘v",‘zuﬂjmb HAMED, 18US.C. § 1956(8)
WAHEED MOHAMMED HAMED, S ERIh = TRIRAUNEER HGRTE
) aka Willie Hamed, 18US.C. § 1341
MAHER FATHI YUSUF, MAILFRAUD
aka Mike Yuguf,
ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF, 18U.8.C. §I9SG(a)(2)(B)(1)
aka Samn Yousuf, MONEY LAUNDERIN¢
LPATRL PSR o 26U.8.C, § 7206(2)
UNITED CORPORATION, .
NUSEC§ 5324@)(3) .
Defendsts.. mucwxmemnm » NS
. 33 VIC, § 1522
CONSPIRACY TO EVADE 'mms
33VIC. § 1525(2)
CAUSING FALSE mxnsmmas
14 VIC. § 605(z) ‘
ENGAGING IN A CRIMINAL mmmxsa
14VIC. § 605(d) . .
CONSPIRACY TQ ENGAGE IN A CR!MINAL )
| BNTERPRISE " .
|183usc.¢ 1503 ‘
OBSTRUCTION oF ms'ncn
; 18U,8.C. § 982.
21US.C.§853 .
ASSET FORFEITURE
14VIC.§606 . -
sp & ASSET FORFEITURE '
SEN'mNcmG AIIBGATIONS

EXHIBIT
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THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
Atall ﬁmm relevent to this Indictment: -
A Defendants ' _

1., Defendant UNITED CORPORATION (hereinafter UNTTED) was s corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the United States Virgin Islands (hereinafier “Virgin
Islands™) that did business as Plaze Bxtra (hereinafter “Plaza Extra”). In the mid-1980s, Plaza
Extra opened its first store, which was located iu St. Croix. In 1995 Plaza Extra opoped & -

second store, which was located in St. Thomes. In 2000, PImetmopenedathnﬂsﬁore which

also Wés locawd in St. Croix. Plaza thra sold proceries and Othﬂ' merchandiss,’ winch wasg
purchased from wholesalers and ofher suppliers located in stamg, territories and countries outside
of the Virgin Islnnds. From 1996 through 2001, Pleza Extra's sales totaled over $300 million’

2. Defendant FATHI YUSUF MOHAMAD YUSUF (hereinafier FATHL YUSUF)is _ . ..
& citizen of the United States and & resident of the Virgin Islends. FATHI YUSUF was en owner,

' dnecwrmdofﬁocrofdefendantUmD andpaztcxpatedmﬂlcoperahon of Plaza Bxtra.

FATHI YUSUF’s duties and responsibilities mduded management of the busmess and conduot "’
. of the affairs of the corporation. FATHIYUSUF actedmﬁlﬂzcinpcntto bmefx_t-hotphimself- <

andUNITBD in e(xecuung his duties and responsibxhhes.

3 Defendant WALEED MOH.MV]MAD HAMED (heremaﬁct WALEED HAMIBD) .

is a citizen of the United Slxtcs anda mmden‘t of ﬁneVirgm Islands WAIBED HAMED was
cmployed byUNITED as the rhanager ofaPlaza Extra supetmadcetm St. Cro:x WALEED
HAMED's duties and responsibilities included thc ovcrall opemnon and ﬁnanmnl management

N
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of the store. WAIBBDHAMED acted with the intent to benefit both himself and UNITED in ...........

executing his duties and responsibilitics.

4.  Defendant WAHFED MOHAMMED HAMED (hereinafter WAHEED HAMED)
is & citizen of the United States, a resident of the Virgin Islands, and the bmthe.r of WALBED
HAMED WAHBED HAMED was employed by UNITED as the manager of the Plam Extra -
supearmarket iri St. Thomas. WAHREED HAMED 8 duties and responsibilities included the
overzll operation and financial management of the store. W.AHEEDHAJ\IEDmdw:ththo

intent to benefit both hmselfandtml‘l‘ED in executing his duties and responsibﬂm&c

5. Defendant MAHER FATHI YUSUF (heminaﬁerMA}mR YUSUF) is a citizen of

the United States, = resident of the Virgin Jslands, and the son of defendant FATEI YUSUF.
MAFHER YUSUF was an owner, director and officer of UNITED and participated in the
opextition of Plaza Bxtra. MAHER YUSUF’s duties and msp&nsibi}ities incinded management

" of the business end condust of the affsirs of the corporation, MAHER YUSUF ected with the * ™

' mmﬁwbméﬁtboﬂ:hMoﬂmdUNrrEDmuecuﬁnghisdnﬁesmdresponsibﬂiﬂp&

6. Defcndant ISAM MOHAMAD YOUSUF (hemmaﬂbrISAM YOUSUF)is a
citizen ofﬂernxtedStates.amsldent ofSt.Maartm.Neﬂlerlmds Antilleg, and thenephﬁWof
dafendantFATHI.YUSUF. ISAM YOUSUF owus and operates Island Appliances, a company
mcatedeLMaartmmatwllsapphancesandﬁxmimre .

7. DefendthBJEHFATHIYUSUF(hmnaﬂerNBJBHYUSUF)lsaciuzenof
theUmtedStata. aresident ofﬁ:errngsIands and the son ofdefendantFATHIYUSUF
NEIEH-YUSUFwas anowncrand ﬂnp_loyee of UNITED and partxcq:atedmtheopemhon of .

Plaza Bxtra. NEJEH YUSUF’a duties and responsibilities included imanagement of the business

)
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and conduct of the affairs of the corporation. I\IEJEHYUSUPacta,dwithiheintenttobm;nﬁ_t . _;_ o
‘both himself and UNITED in executing his duﬁe; and responsibilities. '
B. Virgin Islands Tax Revenue Collection

8. The Virgin Islands Code requires Virgin Islands corporations o report their gross
receipts to the tezritorial govemment and pay a tax of four peroent (4% ) on such grdss receipts.
Giross recelpts tax tebtimg srioat’be congpléted under oath subject to penalties for perjury and filed
monthly with the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue, Gross receipts tax revenue
collected from corporations in this menner s deposited into the general find of the treasury for
use by the territory, Defendant UNITED was requived toﬁlemo;:;.blygrpssreceipts taxremms
m‘ndtopaytgxesoﬁitsmbﬁmlygmsssalesmcdpt& .

9. United States law provides that the income-tax laws in force in the United States
apply to the Virgin Islands, am.! thatﬂ;cpmmds of such taxes mﬁstbepaid to the Virgin
C.  Scheme to Defraud. | ‘

10.  Begipning et least as carly es in ar about Jannary 1996 and contimuing thropghat
lesst in or abont Septemiber, 2002, defendants FATEHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED
HAMED and UNITED defraudedthe Virgin lslands of money in fhe form of tax revérme,”
.t.zpedﬁcaﬂy'tarfwﬁdl gross receipts taxcs as well as cozporate.inco.metnxes,ﬁy,failiq‘gwrepp:t. _
at Teast $60 milfion in Plazs Extra sales on gross reteipts tax retums and mmtetinwmc tax ‘

—-HFMD‘S644—1‘8 ----- —— B . - VR s mer o termE e S e -
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11.  Plaza Exira customers paid for their purchasés with cagh, checks, o;redit cards, .
food stamps, and other forms of payment. A#ter Plaza Extra’s sales receipts were collected each
day, the funds typically were transferred to a room in the store often referred to as the “cash
room,” to which only certain individuals, including the defendants, were permitted access. In the
cash foom, Plaza Bxtra employees counted the'sales receipts and prepared bank deposit slips for

the sales receipts.
12,  Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, NEJ',EH

* YUSUF, and UNITED directed and caused Plaza Extra employees to withhold from deposit

substantial amounts of cash received from sales, typically bills in denominations of $100, $50 .
end $20. Tnstead of being deposited into the bank accorints with other sales receipts, this cash
was delivered to one of the defendants or placed in & dmignated safe in the cash room. From
1996thmugh2001 tens ofmilhonsofdollm in cash was ‘withheld from dsposntmﬂns manner

- mdasmch,wasnotmpottedasgmssmcupts ontaxmhn:nsﬁledbyUNITED

- 13, . Inthis way, defendants PATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED
HAMED and UNITED caused the filing of dozens offalsemonthlygmssrmciptétaxremmﬂ.' )
whmhfailedtotcportthccashmﬁihc]dﬁomdcposxtasgrossreo«pts.ﬂmobydepnvmgthc
Virgin Islands of submnual tnxreve:me Defendant UNITED's conmnu-preparedands;gned

" Plaza Bxtra’ smonﬂ:]ygrossrecmptstaxmunns,declmng!mderoaﬁxmatﬁ:ommswaém
) mdcomplete,knomngﬁluwellﬂlatﬂwmmswereﬁlscmﬂaatthcyfaxledtbrcpm'tmlbmual

sales receipts.

—HAMDS564449 S s S A e e R



14.  Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHBBDHAMEDmd :
UNITED also caused the filing of fulse anmual corporate incomi tax retums of UNITED that
failed to report the cash withheld from deposit as sales, thereby depriving the Virgin Islands of
substantia! tax revenue. Defendant FATHI YUSUF nigm_ed TUNITED's returns, deciarmglmdcr

* oath that the returns were true anqoomplete.hommuwcuﬁﬂmemmmwmmth
tﬁeyfhi]ed to report sm:mnﬁal sales receipts.. '
. D, Concealment of the Fraud Proceeds )

. 15.  The defendants engaged in various efforts o disguise and conceal the illegal
scheme and its proceeds. For example, defendants FATHI YUSUF, WAREED HAMED,
M_AHERYTJSUF.MNEJEHYUSUFpmhaseda%:ddimaedmdMPImExM
employess and others to purchase cashier’s checks, traveler's checks, andmonsyordcraw:th
uareported cash, typically from different bank branches and mede payable to individuals snd
mﬁﬁmoﬁu&hﬂ&nwdﬁéﬂ&nﬁ;iﬁmﬂamdﬁéﬁmﬁec@mleﬁﬁmﬁ&mwu |
i . F | o '

" 16 Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WAHEED HAMED, MAHER YUSUF, mdNEJBH
YUSUFakopmchuedmdcmwdoﬂmmpmchmahecksandmowyoxdmmdmgugadm
’ andcausedoﬁmto eugngemvmouscashtxanswhonswithbanks,mamounmdemgnedto
cvucmclegﬂmqummwbmhkeepmdsmdﬁlempommgnrdingmshmuﬁm :

] w::htthS Treasury Department. . B .
17, DefmdantsWALBEDHAMEDandMAHBRYUSUchmedunmpoﬁed

¢

V cﬁrrencyto be used to cash )‘.ho checks of Plaza Extra custom.crs and others in ordet to disguise”

' the cash as legitimate-appearing financial instruments. *

-6-
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18.  Defemdamts FATHI YUSUF axd WALEED HAMED cavsed the checks and
‘money orders described above to be deposited info foreign benk accounts they contmlle.d._ For
cxample, defendants FATEI YUSUF aad WALERD HAMED compiled the various chocks and |
money orders obtained with unreported cash and cansed them to be transported from the Virgin
Tslands to the Kingdom of Jordan (“Jordan"), where the fizds were deposited into accounts they
controlled at Cairo Amman Banl, in Amman, Jordan. ' .
19.  Defendants WALEED HAMED snd WAHEED HAMED used and caused 1o be
- medUNIfEDcmoMechepkshpmchme;ashim‘chxmadepayab]emPIazaExm o
suppliers and ofher entities to_creats the false appearance that the checks wers payments to P!aza
Bxtra supphers Tn fact, these cashier's checks were transported to Ammen, Jordan amd deposxtod
into accounts‘at Cairo Amman Bank coptrolled by defendants FATHI YUSUF and WALEED
20.  Defendants FATHI YUSUF end WALEED HAMED smuggled and caused tobe =+ -
sumuggled millioas of dollars of uareported cash from ﬂae\ruginm to émislmd'ofst
Martin, n the French West Tndies, where it was deposited into accounts at Benque Francaise
Commmerisle hat fhey and defendant ISAM YOUSUF controlled. |
- .21 Toeoncmlﬂ:etmsfunfum'eporbcdcashto fomignbankawiwm'dew
mewswmwmmm fafled to. ﬁleﬁnanmalrepoxtsthhﬂmUmtedStaﬁcs.as
required by law. Specifically, FATHI YUSUF sid WALEED HAMED failed to file required,
xeports with the U.S. Treasury Department that would have revealed: (a) fhéir transfer of
monstery instriments and cash in smourts greater then $10,000 from theVirginIslands o
foreign coumtries, including Jordan and St. M_arun; and (b) their control over bank a_ccounts in

- T
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foreign countries, includirig Jordan and St. Martin, - | SREKELE
E. - Filing False Personal Income Tax Returng :

2. Defendants FATEI YUSUF, WALERD HAMED and WAHEED HAMED also
filed and cansed to be filed false personal incoms tax returns that failed to report end pay tax on
mecashmdoﬁmﬁmdsth;ltﬂwydivawdﬁnmthEmmm&md@bmkm
wAmMmhwmwmpmummmmmgmmmwwwhvgsﬁ
andapmﬁvepmﬂreﬁdmesmﬁavmm FATHI YUSUF, WAL‘EEDHAl\m
deAm}HMdegnedﬂmrmonﬂmmms,udmmgmd«onhthat&emmmswm
uuemdcon:piem,knowingﬂJHweumntﬂxemhmsmﬁhemMﬂwyfxﬂedtompon

substmhalmcamcﬁomﬁmdsdxvmad&omthanb&

|8
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(Ctmspmcy)
23 'Iheallegauons mpmgraphs 1 thmugh 21 abovearereallmdas:fsetforthm
full here.
24.  Beginning at least &s early ag in or about January 1996 and continuing through at
least in or about September 2002, in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, defendants
' FATEI YUSUF '
WALEED HAMED
WAHEED HAMED
MABILR YUSUF
NEJEH YUSUF-
‘and UNITED
knowingly conspired énd agrecd with each other and with oﬂ:u:sknowngnd@knmtoih'e'
grand jury to: | |
8 Enowinglyand willfully devise and intend to devise a scheme and arfifice
'ﬁodeﬁm:dandtnobtammmcyandpmpaty,speciﬁcaﬂymoneybclomgmﬂ:onIslmds
mmefmmoftaﬁmﬁdmmmmmmbymmofmatmﬂﬁlsemdﬁmdﬂw
mmmwmhhmsandp:mmses,kmwmgﬂ:atﬂmpmtmmepﬁﬁommﬂ
protuises were false when made, and for the purpose of executing and attempting to executs and
inﬂntheraﬂueofﬂwﬂmemdmﬁﬁeewdeﬁwdmdfwobmmingmmsymdbmpeﬁyby
" means ofmatmalﬁheandﬁauduldntptctmses,mpremtaﬁonsmdpmmmes, d.ldknomngiy
| msetobcsmtandmovedbyme'[]mted StatesPostal Scmco GrossRccmptsMonﬂxlyTax
Rctums Forms 720 VI, addras&ed t0 the Virgin Islands Bm-cau ofIntum}Rsmuc‘mvwlanon

of Title 18 UmtedStates Codc, Secuon 134] and

_HAMD564-428« " e At e o . : ,,..._ T e R



| b. Knowingly and for the purpose of evading the reporting aod record-

keeping requirements of Title 31, United States Code, Section 5313(s) and 5325, and the
regulations promulgated thereunder, structure, cause to be structured, assist in the structuring,
mmimnmqﬂuaﬂnumnubndammﬁhxﬁwaﬁampmdstuﬂnﬁngofﬁnmxﬁutummmﬂhnwvﬁﬂione
or mmore doeetlo fnancial institutions involving: (3) the issuance and sale of bank checks, benk
m. cashier’s checks, and money &dm for $3,000 or'morelin cunrency; and (if) transactions
with Sinancial instifutions involving more than $10,000 of currency; in violetion of Title 31,
United States Code, Section 5324(2)(3) and (d)(2).
Al Purpose ax'ud Object of the Cof:splracy

25.  Jtwas the purpose and object of the conspiracy for the defendsiuts to unlawfully .

eurich themsclves and the corporations they controlled by engagifg in a fraudulept scheme to -
" obtain and concel money belonging to the Virgin Islends in the form of gross receipts tax
"B, OvertActs. |
2. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the objects teveof, in the District of
fhe Virgin Islands snd elsewhers, the deﬁndams FATHT YUSUF, WALEED HAMED,
WAHEED HAMED, MAHER YUSUF, NBJEH YUSUF, UNITED, and ofhers kown axd
" unknown to the grend jury commmitied and cansed fo be committed the following overt asts,
amongdthem: ‘ .
. Degiuning inor sbout Jenuary 1996 and continuing through i ar about

NEJBH YUSUF directed end caused Plaza Extra employees to withibold from deposit substantial

-10-
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amounts of cash received from sales, typically bills in denominations of $100, $50 and $20; .
b.- - Beginning in or about January 1996 and continving throughm or about

SeptembarZOO.‘Z defmdantsFA'IHIYUSUF WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED end
UNITED's controller cansed the mailing and filing of false monthly gross receipts tax retums for
defendant UNTTED;

' c. BegmngatleastasearlyasmorabcutInly1996andconunmngatlust
through in or about Jannary 2000, defwdantsFATHIYUSUandWALEBDHAMBD on
Iumeroys occasions transported and caused to be fransported tens of thousands of dollars in
. wmreparted cash, typically bills in denominations of $100, $50 and $20, from the Virgin Islands
to St. Martin;
" 4 Begining ateast as carlyas in or sbout July 1996 and continuing at least

through in or about January 2000, defeadants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED ind ISAM
' YOUSUF onm:meromocmsxonsdq:omwdumorted cashmto accounts they confrolled &t

bmksmSt.Lhmn, - .

.c.  Beginning on or about July 7, 1998 end continuing through on ot about
October 15; 1998, o mumerous occasions defendsnt WAFEED HAMED purchased and caused
" sfters to purchase cashiers checks and traveler's checks with niweported cash; °

£° Onorsbont July 22, 1998, d@&ndeALEE)HAmumworwdand
- msedwboumsporwdappmxmatelyﬁcbncbwtahngSWlOSBJ&omﬁwU.S.ng
IslandshCmmAmmanBank.mAmmm.Joxdm,whmthefundswmdcpositedm!om

. sccount he contmllod,

e
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g
and caused to be transported approximately 60 checks totaling $237,526.64 from the U.S. Virgin .

" Islands to Cairo Ammen Bank, in Amman, Jordan, where the finds were deposited into an

account be controlled;
h. Beginning on or about Angust 7, 1998 and continuing through on or about

October 8, 1998, on numerous cccasions, defendant MAHER YUSUF purchased and cansed

On or about August 4, 1998, defendant WALEED HAMED transported

oftiers o purchass cashier's checks and bank checks with unreported cash;
i,  Onorabout August21, 1998, defendants WALEED HAMED and ’
MAHER YUSUF transported and caused to be trensported approximately 54 checks toteling
$105,225.97 frotin the U.S. Virgin Islends fo Csiro Ammen Bank, in Ammaen, Jordsn, where the
: ﬁndawmd@omwdmmammwmﬂedbydefcndmtwmm '
jo -Onor about September 1, 1998, defendant FATHI YUSUR transported
aﬂdmmmwbéummponedappmmmwzsscheczcsmﬁngmss,sso.uzﬁommeu's. =
vmmwmmmpmeMmMsmm'm“
an gccount he controlled; ‘
£ Onersbout Septernber 11,1998, defendant WALEED HAMED
transported and cansed to be transpartsd approximately 138 checks totaling $171,042.53 from’
| BCUS. VnginlslmdstoCahoAnnntmk,inAmmir:x,dem,whmﬂxeﬁmdswm'. -
deposltedmtoanaoconmheoonﬂoﬂed, .
. 1 OnorabomSeptcmberZS 1998, defanaantmrmvusmmspm
. _andee.nsedtobetransported epproximately 3 checks totaling §179,468:50, includmgtwobank ’

checks totaling $150, 000: payable toa thn'd partywhosc endorseme.nt wes forgéd froni the U, S.

-12-
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Virgin Islands 1o Cairo Amman Bank in Amman, Jordan, where the procesds were.deposited into
an account he controlled; '
m.  Onorsbout October 23, 1998, defendant FATHI YUSUF transported and

caused to be transported approximately 42 shecks totaling $106,092.74 from the U.S. Virgin
Islands to Cairo Amman Bank, in Ammaen, Jordan, where the funds were deposited into zn

account be controlled;
.  Onorsbont October 23, 1998, defendant WALEED HAMED transported

end caused o be transporied checks totling $100,901.44 frora the .8, Virgin Islands to Cairo

. AmmmBmhmAmmen,Jordm.whmﬂleﬁmdsmdepomedmwmmmthcoonmnod
On or about December 5, 1998, defendant WALFED HAMED tramsported

0.
and cansed to be transported approxithatély 85 checks totaling $161,846.15 from the U.S. Virgin
. Telands to Cairo Amian Bank, in Amman, Jorden, where the funds were deposited into an
- account he controlled; o |

p. mwmmnmnm&mmm
purcbamidwcksw:ﬂmmepornedmh.

G mmwmtxms.lm,ammwmmmm
andmedtobemomdappmﬁmatelyﬂchcckstotaiing$232788.69ﬁomﬁ:eU.S.ViIgin:
Is]mdstbCaqummmBank.mAmmedan,whmﬂneﬁmdswaedepomedman

aocmmtbecontmlbd.
r. "On or about Febraary 18, 1999, defendant WALEED HAMED msportzd

' andcamedmbeumponedappmﬁmmlysonnwumms1sz,42589ﬁomﬂaevs Vugm '
IslmdsmCaunAnmmBank,mAmman,dean,whemthcfundswmdepomedmtoan .

-13.-



account hs controlled;
5. On or shout Apnil 15, 1999, defendant FATHI YUSUF transported md

caused to be transported approximately 6 checks totaling $66,660.39 from the U.S., Virgin
Islsmds to Cairo Amman Bank in Amman, Jordan, where the proceeds were deposited info an

account he contiolled;
t. On or ebout May 25, 1999, defendant FATHI YUSUF transported and

caused to be transported approximately 8 checks totaling $439,502.62, including & bank check in
the amount of $179,273.64 payeble to end endarsed by a third party who had been deceased for
ovutwoycm,ﬁomﬁer.S.VirginIslandstoOairoAmmanBankinAmmm,Jordnn.ﬁhere

the proceeds were deposited into am account controlled by defendant FATE YUSUF;

u.  Onorabout August 5, 1999, defendznt WALEED HAMED transportad
and caused to be transported approximately 98 checks totaling $384,145,40 from the U.S. Virgin
+ Islands to Cairo Amman Benk, in Amman, Jordan, where the finds were deposited info an
‘socount be cantrolled; snd: _ :

v.  Onor sbout April 10, 2000, defendant WALEED HAMED transported and
cansed to be transparted approximately. 7 checks totaling $164,576.54 from the U.S. Virgin
mwﬁmmmmmi@-’mmmqsmd@ds&dmm
acconnt he controfled. i T

 Allin violation of Title 18, Sections 371 and 3551 et seq.
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COUNT 2
(Monny IaundmngConﬂpﬂ'W)
27.' The allegauons in paragraphs 1 through 13 and 15 through 21 above are realleged
is if set forth in full here. |
28.  Begirning at least as early as ino; about Japuary 1996 and continuing throogh at
least in or about Qctober 2001, in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, defendants:
FA’I‘B] YUSUF

WALEED HAMED
WAHEED HAMED

MAHER YUSUF

ISAM YOUSUF

NEJEH YUSUF

and UNITED
knowingly conspired and agreed with each other and with others known and unknown to the
grand jury to: '
% 2

andﬁnugncommmw,kmwmgﬂmﬂ:npmpanymvo}wdmﬁ:eﬂmnmalmm
reprwmtedﬂwptmodsofmfmmofmlawﬁﬂacumy whwhmﬁutmvolwdﬁ:e;mceads

ofspmﬁedunlawﬁdwtivxty thatm,maxlﬁandmv:olatmm of Tille 18, UmtedStatesCode,

Gmiduaandattcmptto condnctﬁnnnmalu-ansactaons, aﬂ'ecungmtmstnte

Sect:on1341 knomngﬁwtﬁmﬁnanmaltmnsmﬁonsmdemgnedmwbolcmdmpmw
'ccucea!anddlagmseﬂwmlocanon.somw,mmhp anﬂcontmlofﬂ:cproceedsof ‘

epecificd wnlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Cod, Section 1956(2)(1)B)();

b.., 'Itmsportandu'ansfer,andattcmpttouansportandtansfamonetary ’
insu'umcntsandﬁmdsﬁomaplmemtthmtedSmmstoandﬂzmnghaplaceoumxdbthe .
UmtedSMes,knnmngﬂmtthe monetéry instruments and funds involvedmthsu'anspomuon

-15-.
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ATAPOR _'mmmmmwmmdmpmmmmmm :
nmlonﬁommcmmmmofmmdsoﬁepedﬂedm]mﬁdwﬁw

Mkmﬂﬁtﬂ,hvi&kﬁﬂmfm l&mm%mlul.hmm

18, United States Code, Bection 1956@(2)(3)6}

Aninvwhﬂonef’mhl& Section 1956(h) and 3551 & seq.
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(Ml Fraud)
29.  ‘The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 13 and 15 through 21 are realleged as if
fnllysetforthhem
30. Begnnmgat!eastascarlyasmorabout!ammy 1996 end continuing through at
loast in'or about September 2002, in fhe District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, defendants
FATHI YUSUF |
WAHEED BAMED _
WALEED HAMED
; . and UNITED
end ofhers known eud wninown to fhe grend fury, knowingly and willfally devised and intended
to deviso & scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property, specifically monoy
belonging to the Virgin Islands in the form of territorial gross receipts tax revemue, by meaus of ‘
.@wwmmmhmmmmum&epgﬁmmmw
9 fhrotigh 12 a0d 14 fhtongh 20 of this Indictmént. : | A e
3. On or sbout e dates specified in each count below, the defendamt, for the
pwposeofexewnngmdmempungtomcwnteandmfnrﬁ:moeofﬁaeafomwdschanemd
muﬁccmdeﬁmdmdﬁrobuinmgmoneyandpmpmybymmofmamdfn]scmd '

frandulent pretenses, representations and promises, dldknowmgly.ccpsetqbemtandmgvedby

the United States Postal Service, o the East End Uited | States Poat Office in §t, Thowmas, Gross: -

_WMmﬂ:lyTchemms,FomsnOVl nddwssedtotheVIrngslandsBmeanof

Internal Revenue, St. Thomas, V‘n’gm Islamis, 00802:

-17-
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" Count Approximate Date Sales Month
of Mailing
3 09/29/1998 August 1998
4 10/30/1998 Septenber 1998
5 11/27/1998 October 1998
6 12/30/1998 November 1998
“ 01/25/1999 December 1998
8 03/01/1999 January 1999
9 03/30/1999 February 1999
10 04/30/1999 March 1999
11 06/01/1999 April 199
12 06/30/1999 May 1999
13 07/30/1999  Tune1999
14 08/30/1999 Tuly 1999
1s. 09/30/1999 August 1999
16 1012511999 September 1999
17 11/30/1999 . Ociober 1999
18 12/29/1999 November 1999
19 01/29/2000 December 1999
20 02/29/2000 Jamuery 2000
21 03/30/2000 Februsry 2000
22 © 05/01/2000 March 2600
23 05/31/2000 April 2000
24 06/30/2000 May 2000
25 . |. 03172000 . Jume 2000 -
26  08/30/2000 July2000
27 _ 10/022000 . Angust 2000
-18-



Comt | Approximate Date Sales Month
of Mailing ‘
28 10/30/2000 September 2000
29 11/30/2000 October 2000
30 01/02/2001 - November 2000
31 01/30/2001 December 2000
32 02/28/2001 January 2001
33 03/28/2001 Pebruary 2001
34 04/30/2001 March 2001
35 05/30/2001 April 2001
36 07/02/2001 . May 2001
37 - 07/30/2001 Tune 2001
38 08/28/2001 Juty 2001
39- 16/01/2001 August 2001
40’ 11/02/2001 September 2001
) 4 11/30/2001 Octbber 2001
42 01/02/2002: November 2001
8 01/30/2002 " December 2001

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341, 2, and 3551 ef seg.

"HAMDS64433 - — e e
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32.  The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 13 and 15 through 21 are realleged as if
fully sct forth here. _

33. O orabout tho daes listed in each count below, in the District of the Virgin
Islands and clsewhere, the defendants listed below, transported and transferred, and attempted to
transport and transfer, monetery instroments and fiunds in amounts described below from a place
in the United States, specifically the United States Virgins Islands, to and through a place outsids
the United States, specifically Amman, Jordan, knowing that the monetary instruments end funds
involved in the transpond:on and transfer represented the proceeds of some form of unlewful
activity and knowing that such transportation and transfer was designed in whole and i part to’
comoeal and dlsgmse the nahxre, location, source, ownership, and contrel of the proceeds of a
spcciﬁedM activity, thatis; mail fmnd, in violation of Title 18, United States Cods, -

Section 1341:
Cosst |. Da |  Amosnt . Defendant
4 09/25/98 $179,468.50 FATHI YUSUF
45 10/23/98 - $106,092.74 FATHI YUSUF
46 12/05/98° | * $161,846.15 *. WALEED HAMED' .
“47 -| owoems | 23278869 .| WALEEDHAMED
48 02/18/99° $152,425.89 WALEED HAMED
© 49 04/15/99 ° $66,660.39 FATHI YUSUF
50 -] osmsme | 43950262 FATHI YUSUF
51 08/05/99 $384,14540 .| WALEED BAMED
52 04/10/00 $164,57654 | WALEED HAMED

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(2)(2)(B)(), 2, 3551 et seq.

-20-
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COUNT 53
(Structuring Financial Transactions)

34.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 21 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

35, Beginning on or about July 7, 1998 and continuing through on or about October
15, 199, i the Distictof the Virgia Islends, defondant

WAHEED HAMED

tnowingly structured and assisted in sruoturing, and stiempted o strioture and assibtin
structuring, the following transaction with the domestic fipancial institutions listed below for the
purpose of evading the record-keeping and reporting requirements of Title 31, United States
Code, Section 5325, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, for transecticns involving the
mmcemdsaleofabankchecl;bankdmﬁ. andcashlet’sc.heokfm'SS OOOormomm
cummcy bypmchasmgﬂlefonowmgcashwr's chocks and bank checks with currency; anddxd '
50 &5 past of a pattern of iflegal acﬁvityinvplvin'g more than $100,000 in & 12-month period, and
whill violsting enotber faw of fhe Unitod States, to wit: Titl 18, Uited States Code, Sections
1341 and 1956(%), and Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2): '

. . Date " Amomnt Financial Institution
07/07/98 $2,975.00 Scotisbank -
07/23/58 | $2,943.00 " Scotiabsnk
07/23/98 . $2,90000 | = Scotisbank
07/24/98 $2,750,00 . - Scotiebmk .-
07/24198 $290000 | . Scotisbank

" 072798 - |-$2,501.56 | . Scotisbank
07/27/98 $2,891.61 | -  Scofiabank
07/27/98° $2,598.98 " Scotisbank
07/28/98  |.$2,541.01 |  BemcoPopular

A
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Date " Amount Financial Justitation
07/28/98 $2,781.81 . Banco Popular
07/29/98 $2,768.68 Seotiabank
0729/98 | $2,898.15 Scotiabank -
07/29/98 $2,819.52 Scotiabank
07/29/98 $2,967.75 Scotisbank
07/29/98 $2,64438 Scotiabank
07208 | $2,777.50 " Scotisbank
07/29/98 $2,998.98 Scotiabank
07/29/98 $2,981.11 ,Scotiabank
0R/10/98 $2,801.98 Scotiabank
08/10/98 $2,784.40 Scotiabank
0B/10/98 $2,998.48° Scotisbank
08/10/98 $2,862.48 _ Sootiabank
08/11/98 © | $2,862.48 Scotiabank
08/12/98 $2,78440 | Scotiabank
08/20/98 $2,950.00 Scatiabenlk
0820098 | $2,777.41 Scotiabarik
08/20/98 - | $2,991.70 Scotiabank
08/20/98 . | . $2,698.90 Sootiabarik
09/11798 $2,858.50 ‘First Benk
09/11/98 ... | -$2,879.98 * Scotiabenk
09/11/98 | '$2,990.05 Sootishank
‘091198 | $2,995.48 . Scotiabark
10/15/98 -~ |- $2,805.00 _Smﬁabmkr"‘

<22




Date

© Amount

. Financialinstitation

10/15/98

$2,999,10

Scotiabank

100598

$2,899.60

Scotiaban

Allin violation of Title 31, United States Code, Sections 5324(a)(3) and (di(z), and Title

18, Uited States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 f seg.
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COUNT 54

(Structuring Financial Transactions)
36.  The allepations of paragraphs 1 through 21 are realleged es if fully set forth here. .

37.  From onorebont Augustﬁ 1998 through on or about October 8, 1998, in the ;

District of the V‘n‘gm Islands, defcndant ’

MAHER YUSUF

Imowingly structured and assisted in sfracturing, and attempted to stracture and assist in
structuring, the following transaotion with the domestic financial institutions fisted balow for fhe
pmposeofmd@gthemo:'dhepingandm;orﬁngmqtﬁmmenm of Title 31, United States
Code, Section 5325, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, for trmsactions involving the
issuance and sale of a bank check, bank draft, and cashier’s check for $3,000 or mots in
currency, bypmubmngﬁ:efollowmgcaslna’s check:s and bank checks with cumency; mdd:ul

60 as part of a pattern of illegal achv:tymvolvmgmore then SIOO Q00 in a- 12-monmpmod, and
Wﬂzwdmgmkwofﬁewsmmmtm 18, United States Cods, Soction

1956(h):

Date Amount Financial Institntion
08/06/58 $2,400.00 Bank of St. Croiz
08/06/98 $2,500.00 Scotiabenlk
0871098 | $2,990.00 Bank of St. Croix
08/10/98 $2,891,00 Scotisbenk
08/10/98 | $2,794.00 Banco Popular
08/10/98 _ .| . 52,661.00 _‘BancoPopnlar |
0B/10/98 $2,665.00 " Seatiabenk
08/11/98 | $2,480.00 Scotisbank .
08/12/98 $2,123.00 " Scotiabank

-24:
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Date Amount Financlal Institntion
08/15/98 §2,700.00 " Scotisbank '
0B/27/98 $2,500.00 Bancs Popular
08/27/98 $2,500.00 - Scotisbank
09/04/98 $2,500.00 Scotisbank
09/04/98 $2,500.00 Benco Popular
10/05/98 $2,847.00 Banoo Popular
10/05/98 $2,900.00 Sootishank
10/007/98 $2,800.00 Bank of St. Croix
10/07/98 $2,800.00 Scotiabank
10/08/98 $2,520.00 - Scotisbauk

All in violatinn of Title 31, United Stated Code, Sections 5324(a)(3) end (d)(2), and Title

18, United States Code, Sections 2 andl 3551 et seq.
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COUNT 58
(Conspiracy to Evade Taxes)

38.  ‘The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 22 ebove are realleged as if set forth in
full Bere.
39.  Bepinning at least as eaf}yasin or about January 1996 and contiming through at
feast in or shout September 2002, in the District of the Virgin Isjands and elsewhere, defendants
' FATBI YUSUF
WALEED HAMED

WAHEED HAMED
and UNITED

Imowingly end intentionally pombined, conspired, confederated and agreed with each other aod
ﬁmommhmmdmhommmngmdjmywwﬂlmnywmmdde&m&wimposedby
ﬁernglnIﬂmds,mwugrossmedpmmxesandmmtcmdmdmdm]mmemes

A.  Purpose and Obfect of the Conspiracy )

40. Itwﬂwpmposcmdobjwtofﬂwcommmyfurﬁwdefmﬂmﬁmmhwﬁmy
mdchmdvumd@eeapmtmywnmlhdbydmgﬂan‘gmkhndsofm.
reoelpts tax revenus and corporats end individual income tex revence.

B. OvertActs

4. mﬁnﬁmofmemmp&acxmdmﬁmmeobjmmzinﬂmbmuf

fhe Virgin Islands md elscwhere, fhe defendsnts PATBIYUSUF, WALEED HAMED,

) wmm,um,mmmmmdemémam'mmﬁimmw o

ctiused 10 be committed the overt eots described in paragraphs 26(s) through (v); which are
realleged as if set forthin full hers, in addition to fhe following ¢vert acts, among otbers:

R e e e tt—— — 0 ——— 8 — i 8 ¢
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a Betweenonorabo;atMmhtl, 1997 and September 11, 2002, defendant
WALEBD HAMED caused the filing of false annual individual income tax returns, Forms 1040,
in his namo for the tax years 1996 through 2001;

'b. Between on orsbout April 11, 1997 and Septeraber 30, 2002, defimdant
FATHI YUSUF cansed the filing of false snnual individual income tax retarns, Forms 1040, in

his name for the tax years 1996 throogh 2001;
o.  Between on.or about August 14, 1997 and September 18, 2002, defendants

FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED and UNITED caused the filing of
mmmwmmmnwmum.mmwfofm
UNITED, for the tax years 1996 tirough 2001;and =k
.1:- Between on of sbout April 17, 1998 end Agril 17, 2001, defndant
wmmamémedmamofﬁ?mmﬂmﬂmmmmmmxm,
in his name for the tax years 1997 frough 2000. ' |
| Anhvhﬁﬁmofm'ss,vmmmm}m,

-27-
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" COo

(Causing False Tax Returns)

T856—6

42.  Onor about the dates listed below, in the District of the Virgin Islands, defendants

FATHI YUSUF
WALEED HAMED
WABEED HAMED

and UNITED

the mdmduals all being rwdents of the United States Virgin Islands and the cmpomhon, being

orgmzedundm-thzlaws of the United StawsVungslands dxdw:!lfullycanseandmdand

assist in, and prooure, counsel, and advise, the preparation andptescntaﬁontoﬂ:le.\)"n‘gmlslands
. Burean of Internal Revenue, of defendant UNITED's Corporate Income Tax Returns, Forms
1120 and 11208, for the calendar years listed below, whmhwerefnlseandﬁandulentasﬁo a

wmateril matter, in that the refurns reported sales in the amount listed below, whaeas decmaams '

fhen and there knew and believed that UNITED made substmudealesmaddxﬁonmﬂxqmoum

S
Count Date Tax Year Form Reported Sales
56 07/11/98 1997 1120 $36,823,771
57 . 04/07/99 1998 1120 $40,706,669 .
s8 | owosmo 1999 11208 $47,004:399 -
- 59 08/30/01 2000 11208 $51,746,933° -
60 09/18/02 2001 11208 $69,579,412

Al in violation of Title 33, Virgin Isiands Code, Section 1525(2).

HAMD564442
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CO 61 —6
(Causing False Tax Returns)

43.  On or about the dates listed below, in the Dish:i&t of thé Virgin Islands, defendent
| FATHI YUSUF
aresident of the Virgin Islands, did willfully cause and eid and assist in, and procure, coun'sel,
ed adm?,.the pmpmﬁoﬁ and pméntatiqn to the Virgin Islands Burean of Internal Reveane, of
kﬂﬁﬁduﬂlh;uﬁeTEstnnnaEbnns10#0,&xthecdamkwymnsﬁmzdbckwavwﬁdhvwne
filed with the Virgin Islends pursuent to the Intemal Revenue Code, Title 26 of the United States
Co;ie, section 932(c)(4), end were false and frandulent as to & material matter, in ﬂmt the returns
 reparted fotal income in the arnount listed below, whereas he then and there know aud believed

that his true totl income was substantially more than the amount reported.

Count Date Tax Year * Reported Total
; _ Income
6 04/15/98 _ 1997 | $58,360
62 04005199 1998 $33,341
63, 1011600 1999 . $1,936,460
64 09/28/01 2000 |. $1,607,800
65 09A002 2001 .§3,402,579

All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).
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COUNTS 66--70
{Causing False Tax Returns)

44,  Onor ebout the dates listed below, in the District of the Virgin Islands, defendant
WALEED HAMED

a resident pf the Virgin Islands, did willfully canse and aid and assist in, and procure, counsel,
and advise, the preparation and présantaﬁonto the Virgix.:-Ia}ands Bureau of Intemal Revenue, of
Fadividul Tnoome Tex Retums, Forms 1040, for the calendar years listed below, which were
filed with the Virgin Islands pursuant to the Intemal Revenue Code, Title 26 of the United States
Code, section 932(c)(4), and were filso and fraudulent as to  material matter, in that the retums
reported total incoms in the amount listed bolow, whereas he then end there kmew and believed

that he reseived substsutial income in addition to the smount reported.

-Couat Date Tax Year Reported Total
: . Income
66 03/31/98 1997 | . $23.825
67 07/29/9%9 1998 $25,598
68 08/10/00 1999 $23,017
69 . 08/24/01 2000 . $28,259
70 09/11/02 2001 $39,052

All in viclation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).
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—~74
(Causing False Tax Returns)

45.  Onor about the date listed below, in the District of the Virgin Islands, defendant
WAHEED HAMED

aresident of the Virgin Islands, did willfully cause and aid and assist in, and procure, counsel,
and adyise, the preparation andeontoﬂw Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal aname, of
Individual Income Tax Returs, Forms 1040, for the calendar years listed below, which were
filed with the Virgin Islands pursaant to the Infernal Revenue Code, Title 26 of the United States
Code, section 932(c)(4), and were filse and fraudulent as to a material matter, in that the retums
reported total income in the amount listed below, whereas he then gnd thaeknew and believed
that he reccived substential income in addition to the amount reported.

Count Date ‘Tax Year | - Reported Total
' Income
71 |. 041748 1997 . $14,700 .
72 04/15/59 1998 $16,300
73 04/14/00 1999 $25,189
74 04/17/01 2000 $31,293

Al in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).
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{Conduct ogf%i%ﬂ;iﬂnt&pﬁse)

46.  Peragraphs 1 through 22 of this Indictment are hereby realleged and ingoxporatcd
8s if fully set forth herein,

47,  Bepinning af least as early as in or about-Janvary 1996 end conﬁnui'ng through at
Ieast i or about Septembér 2002, in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, defendants

| ' RATHIYUSOR
WAHEED HAMED
WALEED HAMED
‘ and UNITED
fogetter aad with others known and vricuown to the Grand Jury, being persons employed by sud
assoc:atsdwiﬂ:mcemerpnsedem'bcdmpmgmphlls lmlawfully intmhonany and
'-mwmg!yconduwedmdpnumpated.duecﬂymdmdmcﬂy inﬂmconductoftheaﬂ'msofﬂw
) mmmwmron@apmofmmmalmty,asdeﬁmdmﬁﬂeMVngmMMdsCode,
Sections 604(e)&{j), mwlt:ﬂ)cvxomonsdm'bedmComtsl 2,3,15, 27 39, and 55-60.
4 mmmaa@wmmmmmmmmm

that is, a group of corporations assoamdmﬁw '
‘ a, Petm’sFmInw’stmthorp.,ﬂ-rn'giandwo:pmaﬁonﬂmeas o?vnedaixd
controlled by FATEI YUSUF &nd others;

’b‘ Plessen Entexprises, Iuc., aVi:gmklmdsoorpmaﬁonﬂmtwnsownedand ‘
. contmlledbyFATlﬂYUSUF WALEED HAMED, and othere; and
e SMPlusCmpmon.aVugmlslandscozpmaum thatwasomndand

_————

" controlled by FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, aid others.,

-32-



49. The purposes of the enterprise included unlawfully enriching the members and
associates of the enterprise by obtaining and concealing money belonging to the Virgin Islands in
the form ofgmssreccii)tsmrwenucandcorpz;mandindividual income taxreve;mc.

50.  The defendants participated in the operation and management of the enterprise, as
follows: '

a,
leades of the enterprise who directed other members of the entexpriss in carrying out unlawful
and other activities in furtherance of the conduct of the enterprise’s affairs;

b. mddmdmwmm,amguag&ofaPMExm
supermarket, was a leader of the enterprise who directed other members of the enterprise in

The defendznt FATHI YUSUF, an owner and officer of UNITED, was a

ca&ythMmdoﬁmadMﬁwhﬁnﬁmofﬁamdn&ofﬁeMﬁsﬂnﬁh;
c. memwwmm,a_magaofamm
mpumaﬂcgma!eadaof.ﬁwmwscwhodhededomammbmofthedapﬂsein'
mmwmmwﬁghmof&mdmm@é’sm
B /
4. Under the direction of Ehe leaders of tae enterprise, defendant UNITED
participated jn unlirwfil and other activities in furtherence of the conduct of fhé enterpriss’s
s1. Amongthememuamimc&odsbywhmh&xeddmduﬁsmdﬁzermomw
_ oonductedandpartxmpatedmtheconductofﬁr.caﬂ”mrsofﬂ:cmtmpnsemtheaasdesmibedm
paragaphslo-mabove,whschmmwmomdhemnasﬁsdforﬂ:mﬁm ‘
In violation of Title 14, Virgin Islands Code; Section 605(&):
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COUNT 76
(Conspiracy to Conduct Criminal Enterprise)

52.  Paragraphs | throngh 22 of this Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated
85 if fully set forth herein. '
_ 53. Beg‘nningatleaétnswiyasinoraboutlanuaxy1996andconﬁnuingthfoughat
Joast in or abont September 2002, in the District of the Virgin Islauds end clsewhere, defendants
FATHI YUSUF |
WALEED HAMED
WAHEED HAMED
aud UNITED
together with otber persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, being persons exaployed by
and associatod with the enterpriso described in peragraph 48 sbove, knowingly end intentionally
mspnedmviolmm 14, Virgin slands Code, Section 605(a), that s, to condnot and
lmnkqumadnaﬁhumdxmhnzﬂy1nﬁmcumﬁn#of&waﬂ&uscfﬂuﬁcannm@ﬂnnugha
pdﬂxnofmmmnudnﬂnngrasﬂuduunjsdhﬁnudby13ﬂ¢14 VﬁqpnhwudbCkﬂq.Saxwms
6@%@&6}Ihepumnuﬁbummﬂaﬂmﬁy&mn@hwhmh&wddhmhﬂhq@uﬂt:amﬂmx&w
amimofmwmmnﬁeddmmforﬁmpmg‘aphﬂofﬁmhmmmmdzm
incarparated as if fally set forth herein. )
54, Jtwas a part of the conspiracy that the defindants agreed that a'conspirator would
commit at least two ects of criminal activity in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise.
Allin violatioaof Title 14, Virgia Islands Code, Section 605(d) |
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COUNT 77
(Structuring Financial Transactions)

55.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 2] are realleged as if fully set forth here.

56.  Beginning on or sbout December 22, 1998, and continuing through on or abont
Deceruber 23, 1998, in the District of the Virgin Ialands, defendint

| NEJEH F.YUSUF
lmowing!yWandassistedinmmuning, aﬁda‘nmnpted to strocture and assist in
structuring, the following transaction with the domestic financial institations Jisted below for the
purpose of evading fhe reporting requireaneats of Title 31, Usited States Cods, Section 5313(s),
. and the regulations promulgated thereunder, for currency transsctions involving more than

$10,000 by purchasing the following cliecks with currency st fhe following institutions:

Date Amount | Finsncial Institution
1222198 © $9,000 Banco Popular
" 12722108 $9,000 Bark of St. Croix
12/22/98 $5,000 Scotigbank
12/2298 $5,000 Scotisbank
12/23/98 $9,000 | Scatighank

Allin violation of Title 31, Unifcd States Code, Sections 5324(s)(3) and (d)(2), end Title,

18, United Stptes Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et seg.
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57.

COUNT 78
(Obstruction of Justice)
On or about September 19, 2003, in the District of the Virgin Islands, defendant

NEJEH YUSUF

did corruptly endeavar to influence, ‘obstruct and impeds the due administration of justice, in that

defendant NEJEH YUSUF did knowingly and willfully meke falte and misleading declarations

in the District Court of the Virgin Islands with itent to obstruct and impede the federal grand
jury investigation and criminal prosecution involving RATHI YUSUF, MAHER YUSUF,
NEJEH YUSUF, UNITED, and others, including in case no, 2003-147, then pending in the

Vizgin Islands.

58.

On the date stated above, during a pre-irial hearing in case no. 2003-147,

defendant NESEH YUSUF gave falie and mislesding testimony whils under oath, inshuding the

follnwmgmmedkdnrmms:

Q:

A

.Wbﬁemmwomngatmmmsalesmbmgwxﬁheldﬁum

deposit into the company bank accounts, isn't that coorect?
Not hat) can remember.

® %%
Waemtbzmhsdesdcpoatedmﬂxeoompanysbankaccomnwhﬂcm
wmhngﬂ:ew?

Iihelsud.rmaﬁontmdmmagwand,tm,lhavcmmbﬂmafu,bmsﬁras
deposﬂsandsoﬁnﬂ:,thatwasmmy;obdzmcﬂy. ’ . .

Letmcaskthcqucauonagnm. Asfu'asyouknow whﬂeypnwcreWorkmgat
lemuu,wmalltbecashsalesdcposnedmﬁoﬂmcompmysbmkmmts? .

[ .

1 don't kmow how you wantmeto answerthnt, Imcan sd wemaﬂthe eashsahs
deposited into Plaza Extra’s bank account? . .

That’s correct.
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G
(18 US.C. § 982)

59.  The allegetions contained in Counts 1, 2 and 27 through 52 of this Indicthent are
re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, for the purpose of alleging
forfeitures pursuant to the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Section 982

60.  Upon comviction of one or more of the offenses charged in Counts 1, 2 and 27
through 52 of this Indictment, the defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED
HEAMED, ISAM YOQUSUF and UNITED shall forfeit to the United States pursuant te Tifle 18,
United States Code, Section 982, any property, real or personal, jnvolved in such offnses, or anry
property.tracegble to such property, or any property constitifing or derived from proceeds which.
ﬂ:edafendantsobtnineddﬁectbfmindjmcﬂyasammhof&zoomnﬁssionofmidviohﬁons.

61.  Such forfeitures ehall imclude, but ere not limited to: |

_ . - Moncylndgm'mt .

6. m@mof&imwmmmmhmm_wmm
iuterest and prooecds traccable thereto, in that such sum, in the aggregate, was involved in and'is
traceable o, and constitutes and is dezived from proceeds which the defendants obteined directly
mdindiegﬂyaam&oﬁheeommjsﬁwoﬂﬁwcﬁnﬁmlommegedinml,zm
27 through 52, for which the defendants are jointly and severally lisble.

' Real Property

63."  Real property located at 14 and 28-29 Estate Plessen, St. Croix, Parcel 4-
06200-0408-00, including all of its eppurtenances, improvericats, ﬁxturea, attachmmm,and k
émms,wmd;ismmmﬁmﬁng;ddmﬁompmwmumede@nmm

. dbtained directly end indifoctly as a result of fhe commission of violations of Title 18, United
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States Code, Sections 371 and 1341,
64.  Real property located at 3AA-1 and 4AA St. Josoph and Rosendshi, St. Thomas,

Parcels 1-05501-0148-00 and 1-05501-0107-00, including all of its appurtenances,
ﬁqruwummmmﬁmunugaumﬂnmam;andcgwnumﬂgvﬂﬁdhhqmupuﬁymnmﬁwﬁnganddsﬁvad
from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly mdindirééuyas aresult of the
commission of violations of Title 1B, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1341,

65.  Real property located at 4-15, No. 5 and 6 Tabor and Harmony, St.

Thomas, Parcels 1-03104-234-00 and 1-03104-265-00, inchading &1l of its sppurtenances,
improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements, which i ﬁropertj; constituting #nd derived
fom proceeds which the defendants obtained directly and indirectly as 8 result of the
commission of violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 nd 1341,

66.  Real property locubed at Remainder Spring Gerden, St. Crotx, Paroel 4-01900-
OIOIM.MmMmWMmmm mﬂeascmmts
which is property constituting and derived from procceds which the defendarts obtained directly
and indirectly es a result of the commission of viclations of Titfe 18, United States Cods,

Sections 1956(2)(1)B)() and (b).
67. mmlmumzmm@&mmdcmqm@.sn Croix,
 Paroel 2-03500-0414-00; including all of its sppurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments,
- lmdawunangumuhispnmemyunwumnngamidmnnﬂlhnnpmxzukwﬂmdhﬁmdb&mdes
&mmmddmwﬂynﬁnmuuﬂyasammﬂhﬁﬁmdmnmmumuﬂﬁm&bmmoanbI&Ihuwd .
" States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1}B)(i) and ®). '

68.  Real property located at Estate Peter's Faxm, St. C}m:x, Parcel 2-04900—

040%001ndn¢mgaﬂofﬁsanmmﬂuwnus,unpnnwmummgﬁkunuaaﬁmﬂumnm&amicwunnan&
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which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants obtained directly
and indirectly as a result of the comamission of violations of Title 18, United States Code, :
Sections 1956(a)(1)B)() and ().
69.  Real property located at Estate Perseverance, St. Thomes, Parce] 1-02503-
0101-00, including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments, and easements,
. which is property constituting and derived from procesds which the dsfendaits vbizined directly
and indirectly as a résult of the commission of viclations of Title 18, United States Oodc,
Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)G) and @®)-
70.  Real property located 8t 6 and 9 Bstate Thomas, St. Thomas, Parcel 05404-1505-
00, including all ofi}sapmm,immvanwm,ﬁthmdmmts,mdw |
which is property constituting and derived from proceeds which the defendants ohlaineddirecﬂ).r
snd indiroctly as & vesult of o commission of violations of Title 18, Unitod States Cods,
Sections 1956(e)(1)(B)i) £od (). |
71, Mmmummwwm&mmoﬁ )
o Estate Cane Garden, Parcel Nos. 8, 9, w,anamNoAaA.Rmmder
" Matriculate No. 32B, Road Flots 11 and 1%;
b, Estae Retroat Parcel 11, Peter's Matriculte No, 378 of Compamy Querter
and Peter's Matricalate No. 374, and 37BA of Company Quarter, No. 54 of Queen's Qusrtes; .
e’ Bsiute Granard Remainder Matriculate 324, Parcel No, 40, Road Plot 41;
il o o
‘ d. - Estste Diamond, Resaainder Matrioulate’31, Paroel Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4; Road - -
Plot No. 6; including all appurtenances, improvimmts,. fixtures, attachments, and easmcms, '
gl of which is property.constituting and derived ﬁompmooeds which fhe defendants obtainied

o
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directly and indirectly s a result of the cammission of violations of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(), ()(2)(B)() and (b).
Bank Account
72,  All United Siates currency, finds, or other monetary instraments credited to
Account No.140-21722 in the name of Fathieh Yousuf (or Yousef), held by Merill Lynch, which
" is property fnvolved in and tracesble to, and constitutes s is derived from proceeds which the
defendants obtained directly end indirectly as a result of the commission of violations of Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 371, 1341, end 1956(e)(1)(B)() and (h).
SUBSTITUTE ASSETS
73.  Pursuent to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incofocatodiby :
mfmeeéynue 18, United States Code, Section 982(b), if any of the forfeitable property, and
. any portion thereof; described in the forfiture section of"ﬂﬁshdigurm:t,'as az;sgxt'o(myactm
omission of the defendants: '
a.  canmotbe locdcdnpmﬁncxamseofduediﬁm
b, iiﬂsbeeumsfeuedorsoldto.ord@ochudwﬁh,a&kdpa;ty;
c. . hasbeen placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
‘4. hasbeen substantially diminished in vaine; ar
e.  hasbeen commingled with other property which cannot be divided without
difficulty; , ”
' itisthsintmiof(h;:"{.lnimdSﬁtenona&iﬁfdhneofanyo&mpavpmiyofﬂnddﬂiﬁnﬁﬁsuptq
thevalue of the above fmfatablepmpmy mcludmgbutnothnntedto the followmg:
£ Reﬂpmpmyxomedaxszcmn qudePrmms st Cmtx,Parecl

2-02611-0215-09, incinding all eppurtenances, mpmvmﬁ. ﬁxmres, attaclnnmjts, and
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g  Real property located at 7 Southgate, 8t. Croix, Parce] 2-03000-0412-00,

. including all of its appurtenances, improvements, fixtares, attachments, and easements;
h.  Realpropertylocated at 92B La Grande Princess, St. Croix, Parcel 2-

02611-0214-00, including ell appurtenamces, improvements, fixtures, a.thdnnenu, and

easements; and .
i ' Reel property located at Green Cay Plantation Subdivision, Frenchman's

Bay, St. Thomas, Parcel 07404-0280-00, including ell of its eppnrtenances, improyements,

fixtures, sttachments, and easements,
e Real propexty located uMeChaﬁoﬁbMNms New Quarter, St.

mmmzm,mmamwmmmm-
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(14 V.C. § 606) i

74.  The allegations contained in Counts 75 and 76 of this Indictment are ro-alleged
mdincoxporamdbyrefmceasifﬁillywtfmﬂihaeinfo;thepu:poeeofallcgingﬁ:rfcihms
pusuant to Title 14, Virgin Islends Gode, Section 606, |

75.  Throngh the patiem of criminal sotivity alleged in Connts 75 sad 76, defendants
FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, and UNITED have acquired and
maimeammdpcrmmxmmmdinmemmoﬁmmndedformmm'm{mot;
derived from, or realized through, conduct in viclation of Title 14, V'n‘ginlslmdsCode,Seoﬁon
aw:m*ﬂmgpumu@cmwmmnganmﬂm&umormmnmoﬂumhdurmﬂmawcmmnﬂw
enterprise involved in the conduot i violation of Tile 14, Vitgin Tstends Code, Section 605, and '

| mdndmgpmpafymnshmungpmceedsdmvodﬁmﬂwuonduntmwolmonofﬁﬂe 14, Virgin

xslmasCode,,Swumms,wmchmsubjmmmfammmeeovmmmme:ammyof.

o United States Virgin Ilands pursumt to Title 14, Virgin Iilands Code, Section 606(c). That

forfeitable property includes, but i¢ not limited to: )
Corporate Assets and Interests .

76. Al asocts, tangible and intangible, of UNITED, incloding but ot limited o: o
Umtedsutuanmcyﬁmdgaothumoncmymmmaadimdbﬂmﬁﬂbwmgmm.f
‘mﬁlcnamoofdefwdthmtedCorpormon.

e  AcoountNo. 191-063789 atBaﬁcoPopulai;
b, AcoountNo. 191-013307 at Banco Populer,;
c.  Account No. 192-026143 at Banco Popular;

d.  AccountNo. 65811 at Bank of Nova Scotis;
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e. Account No, 553120] 0 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
f. Agcount No. 60086413 at Bank of Nova Scotia;
Account No, 60092918 at Bank of Nova Scotiz;
Account No. 55356719 at Bank of Nova Scotia; and
i, AccountNo. 140-07759 st Merrill Lynch
 71.  Theinterests of individual defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, and
WAHERD HAMED in the caterprise, including individual shares end rights and entitlements o
profits and funds from UNITED and ofher corporats members of the enterprise.
| 78, As 8 esult of fhe commission of the offemses charged in Counts 75 and 76 of this
Indictment, the defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, and WAHEED HAMED chall
forfeit to the Government of the Temitory of the Unjted States Virgin Tslands aseets, including,
but not Kimited to, the assets described in paragraphs 62, 64 through 73, -

79.  Pursuant to Tifle 14, Virgin Islands Code, Section 606(c), if eny of the fosfeitable
property, and eny portion thereof, described in Crimina] Forfeiture Allegation One of this
Indictment, es & result of sy sct ar amission of the defendent:

e cinnotbe located upan fhe exerciss of due diligence;
‘b,  hasbeen sold 1o a bona fide purchaser fir valug;
. bas been pluced beyond the furisdiotion of the Cougt;
4. hasboen substantially diminished in valne; or
) T g, has béen commingled with other property which eén;otbe&iv_igmu}iﬂ:m
it is the inteat of the United States to seck forfeiture of any other property of said defendants o
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to the value of the above forfeitable property, including, but not limited to the property described

in paragraphs 68(f) through 68(1).
All in sccordance with Title 14, Visgin Islands Code, Section 606.

80.

SENTENCING ALLEGATIONS

With respect to count 1 of the Indictment with which each defendent is charged:

8. The loss from the mail fraud described in count l(a)wasmoreﬂ:m
$2,500000

b. Thcamountofﬁmdsstuctmeddcscﬁbedmoountl(b)wasmomﬂmn

- $2,500,000;

8l.
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c. The offense otherwise involved sophnshcawdmeans. and

d. Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, and WAHEED HAMED,
wete organizers and Jeaders of a criminal activity thet involved five ormore

With respect to wuntZofﬂnindictmmtmﬂ:whwhemhdnfmdmﬂmehargbd.
a I‘hevaluoofﬂ:elmwedﬁmdswnsmﬂ:mﬂ.oooow

¢. Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, and WAHEED HAMED,
wmaganmmdleadusafaamnﬂmtyﬂntmvolvedﬁveorme
putmpmtsapdmoﬂzmmm

With respect to counts 3 through 43 ofﬁ:emdzctmmtwnﬂxwhid:ewhdc&udm
is charged: . - .

a 'I‘i:clossﬁomq:cmailmdm‘bedm oounlss ﬂmu,gh43momﬂ:m
32,500000- . ,

b. The offense otherwise involved sophisticated means; and
¢. Defendants FATHI YUSUF, WALEED HAMED, end WAHEED HAMED,

" wete organizers and leaders of a criminal activity that involved five orf more

perticipants and was otherwise extensive,
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83.  With respect to counts 44 through 52 of the indictment with which each defendant
is charged:

& The value of the lamdered funds was more than $1,000,000; and
b. The offense involved sophisticated laundering.

84.  Withrespect to count 53 of the indi¢tment with which each defendant is charged:
2. The value of the funds structured was more than $70,000;

b. Defendant WAHEED HAMED knew snd believed that the funds were
proceeds of unltawful activity and were intended to promote unlawful activity; and

c. Defendant WAHEED HAMED committed the offense as part of a pattern of
unlawful activity involving more than $100,000 in a 12 month peyiod.

85.  Withrespect to count 54 of the indictment with which each defendant is charged:

a. Tho value of the funds structared was more then $30,000;
b. Defendant MABER YUSUF knew and belicved that the finds were proceds
‘of unlawfu] activity and were intended to promote unlawful activity; and

6. Defeadant MAHER YUSUF conumitted the offesise as pert of a patfern of
unlawfiul activity involving maore than $100,000 in & 12 month period.

86,  Withrespect to counts 51 through 65 of the indictment with which each defendant
is charged: .
a. The tax loss was more than $7,000,000; :
b. The offense invalved sophisticated means and/or sophisticated concealmexit;
ang : _

¢. Defendant FATHI YUSUF friled to report or to correctly identify the source
ofim;ame exceeding $10,000 in any year from criminal activity. )
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With respect to counts 66.through 70 of the indictment with which each dafendant
is charged:

8. The tax logs was more than $1,000,000;

b. The offense mvolved sophisticated means and/or sophmhcated concealment;
and

c. DefendeALEEDHAMEDﬁﬂedtorcportotto carrettly identify the
source of income exceeding $10,000 in eny year from critinal activity.

‘With respect to counts 71 through 74 of the mdxcunmfwzthwlncheadhdsfwdam
is charged:

a. The tax loss was more than $400,000;

b. The offense involved sophisticated means end/or sophisticated conceatment;
and

¢. Defendsnt WAHEED HEAMED failed to report or to correctly identify the
source of income exceeding $10,000 in any year from criminal activity. -

With respect to oount 77 of the indictment with wisich each defendant is charged:’

" 8. The smount of structured fimds was more than $30,000; and

' With respect to oount 78 of the indictment with which cach defendaut is

charged:
& The offense involved substantial interference with fhe administration of jostice.
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